
MOUNTAIN VISTA METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
Regular Board Meeting 

Virtual 
 

Thursday, March 3, 2022 – 10:00 a.m. 
 

Board Members 
Brian Bahr, President - Term to May 2022 

Richard Vorwaller - Term to May 2023 
Jordan Savage- Term to May 2023 

Craig Anderson- Term to May 2023 
John Eliot- Term to May 2022 

 
** Please join the meeting from your computer, tablet or smartphone** 

https://meet.goto.com/432372773  
United States: +1 (669) 224-3412 

Access Code: 432-372-773 
 

AGENDA 
1. Call to order 
 
2. Declaration of Quorum/Director Qualifications/ Disclosure Matters 

  
3. Approval of Agenda 

 
4. Regular Business Items (These items are routine and may be approved   by one motion. There will be no 

separate discussion of these items unless requested, in which event, the item will be heard immediately) 
a. Approval of Board Meeting Minutes from the November 4, 2021 Meeting (attached) 
b. Approval of Payables for the Period ending March 3, 2022 (attached) 
c. Acceptance of Unaudited Financial Statements as of January 31, 2022 and the schedule of cash 

position updated as of January 31, 2022 (attached) 
 
5. Management Matters 

a. Manager’s Report (attached) 
b. Review proposal to change landscape in Bioswales (attached) 
c. Consider approval of BiggsKofford Audit Engagement Letter (attached) 
d. 2022 Elections Update 
e. Waste Connections Recycling program change 
f. Mountain Vista Metropolitan District No. 2 Update 

 
6. Legal Matters 

a. Ratification and approval for IGA agreement with Colorado Special District Property & Liability 
Pool (attached) 

b. Bond Update 
 
7. Public Comment and Public Sign-In Attendance Sheet  

(Limited to 3 minutes and only for items not on the agenda) 
 

8. Other Business 
a. Next Regular Meeting Date – April 7, 2022, at 10:00 a.m. 

  
9. Adjourn 

https://meet.goto.com/432372773
tel:+16692243412,,432372773


 
 



 

Special District Management 
(719) 447-1777          www.wsdistricts.co  

 

 
MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING  

OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE  
MOUNTAIN VISTA METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 

HELD NOVEMBER 4, 2021 AT 9:30 A.M. 
 

Pursuant to posted notice, the regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Mountain 
Vista Metropolitan District was held on Thursday, November 4, 2021 at 9:30 AM, via 
electronic means and telephone conference call. 

 
Attendance 

In attendance were Directors: 
Brian Bahr  
Jordan Savage (Excused) 
Craig Anderson (Via phone) 
John Eliot (Excused) 
Richard Vorwaller 
 
Also in attendance were: 
Kevin Walker, WSDM 
Rebecca Hardekopf, WSDM (Via phone) 
Pete Susemihl, Susemihl, McDermott & Downie, P.C. 
Eric Stedman, Public attendee (Via phone) 
 

1. Call to Order & Introductions: The meeting was called to order at 9:57 AM by President Bahr. He 
confirmed a quorum was present.  
 
2. Approval of Agenda: President Bahr moved to approve the Agenda as presented; seconded by Director 
Vorwaller. Motion passed unanimously. 
 
3. Regular Business Items 

a. Approval of Board Meeting Minutes from the October 25, 2021 Meeting 
b. Approval of Payables for the Period ending October 31, 2021 
c. Acceptance of Unaudited Financial Statements as of October 31, 2021 and the schedule of 

cash position updated as of October 31, 2021 
 
Director Vorwaller moved to approve the Regular Business Items as presented; seconded by Director 
Anderson. Motion passed unanimously. Directors Eliot and Savage were excused.    

 
4. Management Matters: 

a. Manager’s Report: Mr. Walker presented the Manager’s Report. The issue of trash in the open 
space has been resolved and the trash has been removed. The irrigation system has been 
winterized and the sprinkler damage has been identified and will be addressed with the City of 
Colorado Springs to install a barrier. If not, the irrigation will be moved 10 feet.  



 

Special District Management 
(719) 447-1777          www.wsdistricts.co  

b. Public Hearing and consider Resolution for the Adoption of the 2022 Budget: President Bahr 
opened the Public Hearing on the 2022 Budget. Mr. Stedman commented that the trash budget has 
gone up significantly. He asked if they got a bid from another trash company and what are they 
expecting it to cost per household. Mr. Walker replied that they have not gotten another bid yet 
and they expect cost per household to be the same as last year which is $15 per month. The trash 
budget has gone up due to the increase in homes that are serviced. Mr. Walker presented the 2022 
Budget and noted the debt service showing $12.5 Million in bonds issued this year and the 
expenditures associated with that. After no other public comments, President Bahr closed the 
Public Hearing. Director Vorwaller moved to adopt the Resolution for the approval of the 2022 
Budget; seconded by Director Anderson. Motion passed unanimously.  
 

5. Legal Matters:  
a. Consider Election Resolution for 2022 Regular District Election adoption: Mr. Susemihl presented 

the Election Resolution for 2022 Regular District Election. President Bahr and Director Eliot’s 
terms are up for election. Mr. Susemihl explained the Resolution appoints him as the Designated 
Election Official with the authority to cancel the election if needed. Director Anderson moved to 
adopt the Election Resolution for 2022 Regular District Election; seconded by Director Vorwaller. 
Motion passed unanimously.  

b. Bond Update: Mr. Walker reported they are modifying the preliminary limited offering 
memorandum which should be issued within the next 10 days. It will be out in the market for 2 
weeks and the sale of bonds should occur by the end of November and close by the end of 
December. Mr. Susemihl noted the closing is scheduled for December 15th.  
 

6. Public Comment: President Bahr opened the meeting for public comment. Mr. Stedman commented 
that there are two date typos in the Election Resolution. Mr. Susemihl confirmed the typos have been 
corrected in the newest version of the Resolution. Mr. Susemihl and President Bahr thanked Mr. Stedman 
for bringing them to their attention.  
 
7. Other Business: 

a. Establish 2022 Regular scheduled meeting dates and times: The Board agreed to continue meeting 
on the first Thursday of every month at 10:00 AM for 2022.  

b. Next Regular Meeting Date – December 2, 2021 at 10:00 AM: The Board confirmed the next 
regular meeting date.  
 

7. Adjournment: Director Anderson moved to adjourn at 10:11 AM; seconded by Director Vorwaller. 
Motion passed unanimously.  

 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
Walker Schooler District Managers 
 
 
______________________________________ 
By: Kristina Kulick for the Recording Secretary 



 
 



Mountain Vista Metropolitan District
PAYABLES
2/22/2022

GENERAL FUND ACCOUNT

Company Invoice Date Amount Comments
City of Colorado Springs 48028902 1/31/2022 4.86                            
City of Colorado Springs 48028901 1/31/2022 51.84                          
City of Colorado Springs 48028903 1/31/2022 6.89                            
City of Colorado Springs 48028950 1/31/2022 93.36                          
City of Colorado Springs 48022821 1/31/2022 75.74                          
City of Colorado Springs 48023097 1/31/2022 26.33                          
City of Colorado Springs 48023056 1/31/2022 32.00                          
CO Special Districts Prop & Liab Pool 33678 1/19/2022 445.00                        
CO Special Districts Prop & Liab Pool 33682 1/19/2022 2,223.00                    
CO Special Districts Prop & Liab Pool 33679 1/19/2022 5,299.00                    
Colorado Springs Utilities 3882724424 2/7/2022 17.22                          
Colorado Springs Utilities 5666367862 2/7/2022 148.95                        
El Paso County Treasurer 53213-04-007 1/8/2022 144.47                        
HC Hammers Construction 2021-SW-025.1 2/9/2022 4,040.00                    
Mailing Services Inc 16153 1/11/2022 249.37                        
Susemihl Mcdermott Downie P.C. 34113 1/31/2022 -                              
Walker Schooler District Managers 6922 10/31/2021 3,798.51                    Never Paid
Walker Schooler District Managers 6986 1/31/2022 3,532.30                    
Weisburg Landscape Maintenance 44513 1/31/2022 3,965.00                    
Weisburg Landscape Maintenance 44473 1/19/2022 165.00                        
Weisburg Landscape Maintenance 44858 2/3/2022 280.00                        

TOTAL 24,598.84$               

TOTAL FOR ALL FUNDS 24,598.84$               , President



 
 



Jan 31, 22

ASSETS
Current Assets

Checking/Savings
3079 - Kirkpatrick Checking 881,648.23
UMB Cost of Issuance 201,417.88
UMB Series 2021 Project Fund 11,558,582.12

Total Checking/Savings 12,641,648.23

Other Current Assets
Property Tax Receivable 450,245.00
12000 · Undeposited Funds 1,553.95

Total Other Current Assets 451,798.95

Total Current Assets 13,093,447.18

TOTAL ASSETS 13,093,447.18

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable

20000 · Accounts Payable 15,613.67

Total Accounts Payable 15,613.67

Other Current Liabilities
Deferred Property Tax Revenue 450,245.00

Total Other Current Liabilities 450,245.00

Total Current Liabilities 465,858.67

Long Term Liabilities
26000 · Series 2021 Bonds 12,000,000.00

Total Long Term Liabilities 12,000,000.00

Total Liabilities 12,465,858.67

Equity
30000 · Opening Balance Equity 132,142.06
32000 · Retained Earnings 500,136.69
Net Income -4,690.24

Total Equity 627,588.51

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 13,093,447.18

4:05 PM Mountain Vista Metropolitan District
02/23/22 Balance Sheet
Accrual Basis As of January 31, 2022

Page 1



 4:06 PM
 02/23/22
 Accrual Basis

 Mountain Vista Metropolitan District

 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
 January 2022

Jan 22 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

Income

Building Permit Fees

1-0010 · Single Family - Fee 0.00 150,000.00 -150,000.00 0.0%

Total Building Permit Fees 0.00 150,000.00 -150,000.00 0.0%

Treasurer Taxes

1-1000 · Current Year Tax- O&M 0.00 112,561.35 -112,561.35 0.0%

1-1020 · Specific Ownership Tax - O&M 0.00 7,879.29 -7,879.29 0.0%

2-1000 · Current Year Tax- Debt 0.00 337,684.04 -337,684.04 0.0%

2-1020 · Specific Ownership tax - Debt 0.00 23,637.88 -23,637.88 0.0%

Total Treasurer Taxes 0.00 481,762.56 -481,762.56 0.0%

1-2010 · Trash Service 10,955.39 57,600.00 -46,644.61 19.02%

1-3000 · Interest Income 0.00 500.00 -500.00 0.0%

Total Income 10,955.39 689,862.56 -678,907.17 1.59%

Expense

Treasurer Fee

1-1100 · Treasurer Collection Fee - O&M 0.00 1,688.42 -1,688.42 0.0%

2-1100 · Treasurer Collection Fee - Debt 0.00 5,065.26 -5,065.26 0.0%

Total Treasurer Fee 0.00 6,753.68 -6,753.68 0.0%

1-1200 · Professional Services

1-1210 · Audit/ Accounting 0.00 9,000.00 -9,000.00 0.0%

1-1220 · District Managment 3,500.00 40,000.00 -36,500.00 8.75%

1-1230 · Trash Service 3,528.78 57,600.00 -54,071.22 6.13%

1-1250 · Legal 0.00 10,000.00 -10,000.00 0.0%

Total 1-1200 · Professional Services 7,028.78 116,600.00 -109,571.22 6.03%

1-1310 · Copies & Postage 281.67 2,000.00 -1,718.33 14.08%

1-1400 · Dues & Subscriptions 0.00 825.00 -825.00 0.0%

1-1450 · Insurance 2,668.00 5,000.00 -2,332.00 53.36%

1-1600 · Landscape Maintenance & Repairs

1-1610 · Utilities 216.69 60,000.00 -59,783.31 0.36%

1-1600 · Landscape Maintenance & Repairs - Other 5,015.00 60,000.00 -54,985.00 8.36%

Total 1-1600 · Landscape Maintenance & Repairs 5,231.69 120,000.00 -114,768.31 4.36%

1-1620 · Stormwater Fee 291.02 2,500.00 -2,208.98 11.64%

1-1630 · Miscellaneous 144.47 50,000.00 -49,855.53 0.29%

Total Expense 15,645.63 303,678.68 -288,033.05 5.15%

Net Income -4,690.24 386,183.88 -390,874.12 -1.22%

 Page 1 of 1



Income and Expense by Month
January 2022

Income
Expense

0

5

10

15

20
$ in 1,000's

Jan22

Income Summary
January 2022

By Account

100.00%1-2010 · Trash Service
$10,955.39Total



Income and Expense by Month
January 2022

Income
Expense

0

5

10

15

20
$ in 1,000's

Jan22

Expense Summary
January 2022

By Account

44.92%1-1200 · Professional Services
33.441-1600 · Landscape Maintenance & Repairs
17.051-1450 · Insurance

1.861-1620 · Stormwater Fee
1.801-1310 · Copies & Postage
0.921-1630 · Miscellaneous

$15,645.63Total



 
 



614 N. Tejon St.           Colorado Springs, CO  80903 719.447.1777 
 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: MOUNTAIN VISTA METROPOLITAN DISTRICT BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
FROM: REBECCA HARDEKOPF 
SUBJECT: MONTHLY MANAGERS REPORT FOR MARCH 3, 2022, MEETING 
DATE: FEBRUARY 24, 2022 
CC: KEVIN WALKER 

BOARD PACKET 
 
 
Landscape Maintenance Concerns 
 
Billing Update: 

• 2022 1st Quarter bills sent on 1/6/2022 
• 16 Liens in place for dues not paid from prior year 
• 80 Reminder letters sent on 2/7/2022 
• Collection and Line notice will be sent on 3/2/2022 

 
Mountain Vista Covenant Matters 

• Violations issued: 
o 5 Violations have been issued to date for 2022 
o 11 violations remain open from prior years and are receiving fines. 

• Architectural Submissions Reviewed: 
o 2022: 

 4 Submissions’ approved 
 29% - Exterior modification 
 29% - Shed 
 14% - New Construction 
 14% - Patio/ Decks 
 14% - Attached Patio Cover 



 
 



Description Address Rock Fabric Labor
 Haul and 

Dump Fee 
 Delivery Fee Subtotal

1.) Recess dirt in Bio 

swales. 2.) Install fabric. 3.) 

Install 2-4" Grey Rose 

Granite.

Through out Filing 3 

Community.

2,234.74$        596.16$              6,750.00$           450.00$           195.00$         10,225.90$                     

10,225.90$                     

Mtn. Vista Metro
Enhancement Proposal

7-Sep-20

                               Total   =     



 
 



 

 

BiggsKofford, P.C. • Member AICPA 
630 Southpointe Court, Suite 200 • Colorado Springs, CO 80906 • Phone: 719.579.9090 • Fax: 719.576.0126 • www.biggskofford.com 

 

    Initials ______ 
 

 
 
January 26, 2022 
 
Mountain Vista Metropolitan District 
Board of Directors 
Via email: rebecca.h@wsdistricts.co 
 
We are pleased to confirm our understanding of the services we are to provide for Mountain Vista 
Metropolitan District (“District”) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021.  
 

Audit Scope and Objectives 
 
We will audit the financial statements of the governmental activities and each major fund, including the 
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the basic financial statements of 
the District as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021. Accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America (“US GAAP”) provide for certain required supplementary information 
(“RSI”), such as management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) to supplement the District’s basic 
financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required 
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board which considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 
context. As part of our engagement, we will apply certain limited procedures to the District’s RSI in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAS”). 
These limited procedures will consist of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, 
the basic financial statements, and other knowledge obtained during our audit of the basic financial 
statements. We will not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the 
limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance. The following RSI is required by US GAAP and will be subjected to certain limited procedures, 
but will not be audited: 
 

 You have informed us that the MD&A will be omitted. Our report will be modified accordingly. 
 
We have also been engaged to report on supplementary information (“SI”) other than RSI that 
accompanies the District’s financial statements, as applicable. We will subject the SI to the auditing 
procedures applied in our audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, 
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other 
additional procedures in accordance with US GAAS, and will provide an opinion on it in relation to the 
basic financial statements as a whole. 
 

 Schedule(s) of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances – budget and actual 
for governmental funds, as applicable 

 



 

 

Page 2 of 7 
Initials ______ 

 
 

Other information accompanying the financial statements will not be subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in our audit of the financial statements, and our auditor’s report will not provide an opinion or any 
other assurance on that other information. If we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of 
the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 
 
We understand that the following people or entities will use these financial statements for the enumerated 
purposes: 
 
USER PURPOSE 

 
State of Colorado  To provide assurance that the financial statements adhere to US 

GAAP 
 
Management 

 
To provide assurance on the financial statements to enhance 
management decision-making 

 
You agree that you will discuss the suitability of this presentation with us if you intend to submit these 
financial statements to other users or to any of the identified users for different purposes. 
 
The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion about whether your financial statements are fairly presented, in all material respects, 
in conformity with US GAAP; and report on the fairness of the SI referred to above when considered in 
relation to the financial statements as a whole. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is 
not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US 
GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements, including omissions, can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually 
or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment of a reasonable user made based on the financial 
statements.  
  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
We will conduct our audit in accordance with US GAAS and will include tests of your accounting records 
and other procedures we consider necessary to enable us to express such an opinion. As part of an audit 
in accordance with US GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit.  
 
We will evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management. We will also evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements, including the disclosures, and determine whether the financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. We will plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, whether from (1) errors, (2) fraudulent financial reporting, (3) misappropriation of 
assets, or (4) violations of laws or governmental regulations that are attributable to the District or to acts 
by management or employees acting on behalf of the District. 
 
Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, combined with the inherent limitations of internal control, 
and because we will not perform a detailed examination of all transactions, there is an unavoidable risk 
that some material misstatements may not be detected by us, even though the audit is properly planned 
and performed in accordance with US GAAS. In addition, an audit is not designed to detect immaterial 
misstatements or violations of laws or governmental regulations that do not have a direct material effect 
on the financial statements. However, we will inform the appropriate level of management of any material 



 

 

Page 3 of 7 
Initials ______ 

 
 

errors, fraudulent financial reporting, or misappropriation of assets that comes to our attention. Our 
responsibility as auditors is limited to the period covered by our audit and does not extend to any later 
periods for which we are not engaged as auditors.  
 
We will also conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether there are conditions or events, 
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a reasonable period of time. 
 
Our procedures will include tests of documentary evidence supporting the transactions recorded in the 
accounts, and direct confirmation of receivables and certain assets and liabilities by correspondence with 
selected customers, creditors, and financial institutions. We may also request representations from your 
attorneys as part of the engagement and they may bill you for responding to this inquiry. 
 
If circumstances occur which, in our professional judgment, prevent us from completing the audit or 
forming an opinion on the financial statements, we retain the right to withdraw from the engagement 
without issuing an opinion or report, as permitted by our professional standards. 
 
We may from time to time, and depending on the circumstances, use third-party service providers in 
serving your account. We may share confidential information about you with these service providers but 
remain committed to maintaining the confidentiality and security of your information. Accordingly, we 
maintain internal policies, procedures, and safeguards to protect the confidentiality of your personal 
information. In addition, we will secure confidentiality agreements with all service providers to maintain 
the confidentiality of your information and we will take reasonable precautions to determine that they 
have appropriate procedures in place to prevent the unauthorized release of your confidential information 
to others. In the event that we are unable to secure an appropriate confidentiality agreement, you will be 
asked to provide your consent prior to the sharing of your confidential information with the third-party 
service provider. Furthermore, we will remain responsible for the work provided by any such third-party 
service providers. 
 

Audit Procedures – Internal Control 
 
We will obtain an understanding of the District and its environment, including internal control relevant to 
the audit, sufficient to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to error or fraud, and to design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks and 
obtain evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentation, or the override of internal 
control. An audit is not designed to provide assurance on internal control or to identify deficiencies in 
internal control. Accordingly, we will express no such opinion. However, during the audit, we will 
communicate to you and those charged with governance any matters related to internal control that are 
required to be communicated under professional standards. 
 

Audit Procedures – Compliance 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, we will perform tests of the District’s compliance with the provisions of applicable laws, 
regulations contracts and agreements. However, the objective of our audit will not be to provide an 
opinion on overall compliance, and we will not express such an opinion. 
 



 

 

Page 4 of 7 
Initials ______ 

 
 

Other Services 
 
We will also prepare the financial statements of the entity in conformity with US GAAP based on 
information provided by you. We will perform the services in accordance with applicable professional 
standards.  
 
We, in our sole professional judgment, reserve the right to refuse to perform any procedure or take any 
action that could be construed as assuming management responsibilities. 
 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Our audit will be conducted on the basis that you acknowledge and understand your responsibility for 
designing, implementing, and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, including monitoring ongoing activities; for the selection and application of accounting principles; 
and for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in conformity with US GAAP.  
 
Management is responsible for making drafts of the financial statements, all financial records, and related 
information available to us and for the accuracy and completeness of that information (including 
information from outside of the general and subsidiary ledgers). You are also responsible for providing 
us with (1) access to all information of which you are aware that is relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements, such as records, documentation, identification of all related 
parties and all related-party relationships and transactions, and other matters; (2) additional information 
that we may request for the purpose of the audit; and (3) unrestricted access to persons within the District 
from whom we determine it necessary to obtain audit evidence. At the conclusion of our audit, we will 
require certain written representations from you about the financial statements and related matters.  
 
Your responsibilities include adjusting the financial statements to correct material misstatements and 
confirming to us in the management representation letter that the effects of any uncorrected 
misstatements aggregated by us during the current engagement and pertaining to the latest period 
presented are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a 
whole. 
 
You are responsible for the design and implementation of programs and controls to prevent and detect 
fraud, and for informing us about all known or suspected fraud affecting the District involving (1) 
management, (2) employees who have significant roles in internal control, and (3) others where the fraud 
could have a material effect on the financial statements. Your responsibilities include informing us of your 
knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the District received in communications 
from employees, former employees, regulators, or others. In addition, you are responsible for identifying 
and ensuring that the District complies with applicable laws and regulations.  
 
With regard to including the auditor’s report in an offering document, you agree that the aforementioned 
auditor’s report, or reference to BiggsKofford, P.C., will not be included in any such offering document 
without our prior permission or consent. Any agreement to perform work in connection with an offering 
document, including an agreement to provide permission or consent, will be a separate engagement. 
 
You are responsible for the preparation of the SI in conformity with US GAAP. You agree to include our 
report on the SI in any document that contains, and indicates that we have reported on, the SI. You also 
agree to include the audited financial statements with any presentation of the SI that includes our report 
thereon. Your responsibilities include acknowledging to us in the representation letter that (1) you are 
responsible for the presentation of the SI in accordance with US GAAP; (2) you believe the SI, including 



 

 

Page 5 of 7 
Initials ______ 

 
 

its form and content, is fairly presented in accordance with US GAAP; (3) the methods of measurement 
or presentation have not changed from those used in the prior period (or, if they have changed, the 
reasons for such changes); and (4) you have disclosed to us any significant assumptions or 
interpretations underlying the measurement or presentation of the SI. 
 
You agree to assume all management responsibilities for the other services listed above and any other 
non-attest services we provide; oversee the services by designating an individual, preferably from senior 
management, with suitable skill, knowledge, or experience; evaluate the adequacy and results of the 
services; and accept responsibility for them. 
 

Engagement Administration, Fees, and Other 
 
You are responsible to notify us in advance of your intent to reproduce our report for any reason, in whole 
or in part, and to give us the opportunity to review any printed material containing our report before its 
issuance. Such notification does not constitute an acknowledgement on our part of any third party's intent 
to rely on the financial statements. With regard to financial statements published electronically or on your 
internet website(s), you understand that electronic sites are a means to reproduce and distribute 
information. We are not required to read the information contained in your sites, or to consider the 
consistency of other information in the electronic site with the original document. 
 
You agree that you will not use our firm’s name or the name of an employee of the firm in a communication 
containing a financial presentation without the written permission of our firm. If you do use our firm name 
or the name of an employee of the firm in a communication containing a financial presentation, you agree 
to include an “accountant’s report” or a “disclaimer” on the financial presentation(s) which we specify. 
Further, you agree to provide us with printers’ proofs or masters of any document that contains our firm 
name or the name of an employee of the firm and a financial presentation for our review and approval 
before printing/publishing of the document. You also agree to provide us with a copy of the final 
reproduced material that contains either our firm’s name and/or the name of an employee of the firm and 
a financial presentation for our approval before it is distributed. 
 
We value each and every one of our clients as well as each and every one of our employees. We have 
spent a great deal of time and resources to locate, train, and retain our employees. We respectfully 
request that you not solicit our employees to work for you. You agree that if you or your agents do hire 
one of our employees within three months of when they last worked for BiggsKofford, we will be due a 
finder’s fee equal to 50% of the greater of the annual salary they were earning as of their last day of 
employment or their starting salary with the District. Payment will be due within 10 days of your receipt 
of our invoice. To ensure that our independence is not impaired under the AICPA Code of Professional 
Conduct, you agree to inform the engagement partner before entering into any substantive employment 
discussions with any of our personnel. 
 
You understand that we provide clients with services specifically focused on identifying and addressing 
deficiencies in internal controls, and on searching for the existence of fraud within the entity. If you would 
like us to perform these services, we would be happy to discuss that opportunity with you. However, you 
acknowledge that those services are outside the scope of this engagement and are not included in the 
fees detailed below. 
 
It is our policy to retain engagement documentation for a period of at least five years, after which time we 
may commence the process of destroying the contents of our engagement files. To the extent we 
accumulate any of your original records during the engagement, those documents will be returned to you 
promptly upon completion of the engagement. The balance of our engagement file, other than the 
compiled financial statement, which we will provide you at the conclusion of the engagement, is our 



 

 

Page 6 of 7 
Initials ______ 

 
 

property, and we will provide copies of such documents at our discretion and if compensated for any time 
and costs associated with the effort. 
 
In the event we are required to respond to a subpoena, court order or other legal process for the 
production of documents and/or testimony related to information we obtained and/or prepared during the 
course of this engagement, you agree to compensate us at our standard hourly rates for the time we 
expend in connection with such response, and to reimburse us for all related out-of-pocket costs incurred. 
 
You and BiggsKofford, P.C. both agree that any dispute that may arise from this engagement will, prior 
to resorting to litigation, be submitted for mediation before the American Arbitration Association. Both 
parties further agree that any such mediation shall be administered within El Paso County Colorado and 
the results of any such mediation shall be binding upon agreement of each party to be bound. Further, 
both parties agree that any potential legal action between you and BiggsKofford, P.C. shall be resolved 
in El Paso County District Court according to Colorado law. Our engagement ends on delivery of our 
audit report and any claim made concerning our services will be limited to the fees charged for those 
services. You agree to indemnify, defend, and hold BiggsKofford and its owners, heirs, executors, 
personal representatives, successors, and assigns harmless from any liability and costs resulting from 
knowing misrepresentations by management. 
 
This engagement letter is contractual in nature and includes all of the relevant terms that will govern the 
engagement for which it has been prepared. The terms of this letter supersede any prior oral or written 
representations or commitments by or between the parties. Any material changes or additions to the 
terms set forth in this letter will only become effective if evidenced by a written amendment to this letter, 
signed by all parties. 
 
We want you to clearly understand that this type of financial statement presentation is not designed for, 
and should not be used for, any purpose subject to regulation by the United States Securities and 
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) or the securities division of any state. 
 
We understand that your employees will prepare all cash, accounts receivable, and other confirmations 
we request and will locate any documents selected by us for testing. 
 
The audit documentation for this engagement is the property of BiggsKofford, P.C. and constitutes 
confidential information. However, subject to applicable laws and regulations, audit documentation and 
appropriate individuals will be made available upon request and in a timely manner to Colorado Office of 
the State Auditor or its designee. We will notify you of any such request. If requested, access to such 
audit documentation will be provided under the supervision of BiggsKofford, P.C. personnel. Furthermore, 
upon request, we may provide copies of selected audit documentation to Colorado Office of the State 
Auditor or its designee. The Colorado Office of the State Auditor or its designee may intend or decide to 
distribute the copies or information contained therein to others, including other governmental agencies. 
 
Braden Hammond is the engagement principal and is responsible for supervising the engagement and 
for signing the report or authorizing another individual to sign it.  
 
Our fees for this engagement are not contingent on the results of our services. We estimate that our fees 
for these services will range from $8,825. You will also be billed for travel and other out-of-pocket 
expenses. The fee estimate is based on anticipated cooperation from your personnel and the assumption 
that unexpected circumstances will not be encountered during the audit. If significant additional time is 
necessary, we will keep you informed of any problems we encounter, and our fees will be adjusted 
accordingly. Our invoices for these fees will be rendered semi-monthly as work progresses and are 
payable on presentation. Any remaining balance will be due upon delivery of your financial statements. 
In accordance with our firm policies, work may be suspended if your account becomes overdue and will 



 

 

Page 7 of 7 
Initials ______ 

 
 

not be resumed until your account is paid in full. If we elect to terminate our services for nonpayment or 
for any other reason provided for in this letter, our engagement will be deemed to have been completed 
upon written notification of termination, even if we have not completed our report. You will be obligated 
to compensate us for all time expended and to reimburse us for all out-of-pocket expenses through the 
date of the termination. 
 

Reporting 
 
We will issue a written report upon completion of our audit of the District’s financial statements. Our report 
will be addressed to the board of directors of the District. Circumstances may arise in which our report 
may differ from its expected content based on the results of our audit. Depending on the nature of these 
circumstances, it may be necessary for us to modify our opinion, add a separate section, or add an 
emphasis-of-matter or other-matter paragraph to our auditor’s report or, if necessary, withdraw from this 
engagement. If our opinion is other than unmodified, we will discuss the reasons with you in advance. If, 
for any reason, we are unable to complete the audit or are unable to form or have not formed an opinion, 
we may decline to express an opinion or withdraw from this engagement.  
 
We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to you and believe this letter accurately summarizes the 
significant terms of our engagement. If you have any questions, please let us know. If you agree with the 
terms of our engagement as described in this letter, PLEASE INITIAL EACH PAGE, SIGN THE LAST 
PAGE, and return a copy to us. 
 
Sincerely, 

BiggsKofford, P.C. 
BiggsKofford, P.C. 
 
RESPONSE: 
This letter correctly sets forth the understanding of Mountain Vista Metropolitan District. 
 
 
 
Authorized signature: ___________________ Title: ____________________ Date:  _______________ 



 
 



 
Pool Administration 
McGriff 
1800 SW First Avenue, Suite 400 
Portland, OR  97201 
Phone: (800) 318-8870 
Fax: (503) 943-6622 

 

INSTRUCTIONS AND CHECKLIST TO JOIN THE POOL BY PROPERLY EXECUTING 
THE RESOLUTION AND INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT (IGA) 

 

          Please use the provided copies of the Resolution and IGA without alteration. When changes are 
warranted, please submit the modified draft Resolution (prior to Board action and signature) for 
review by the Pool Counsel for acceptance by the Pool Board of Directors. 

          The Board Chair must sign both the Resolution and IGA. 

          The Board’s Secretary or other Board Director must attest to the Chair’s signature on both the 
Resolution and IGA. If this attestation is not made by the Secretary, please indicate the name and 
position on the Board (if applicable) of the Director making the attestation. 

          Enter the current date on both the Resolution and IGA signature pages. 

          Enter the coverages and the effective dates on the second page of the Resolution. Subsequent 
renewal coverages or additions will be automatically recognized in the agreement. 

          Each District must designate on the Resolution specific individuals (not necessarily Board 
Directors) to be the Primary and Alternative Pool Representatives. These individuals may not be a 
company, and a single person may not serve as both the Primary and Alternative Representative. 

          Please enter a current email and mailing address for the Primary and Alternative Representatives. 
You may specify the individual’s mailing address as being in care of a company. 

          Groups of related Districts must each provide separate signed documents if each is a separate 
legal entity. Each legal entity will have their own separate policy in the Pool. 

          Please indicate adoption of the Resolution by two Directors on Page 2 of the Resolution. 

          A copy of the Resolution and one original IGA document must be returned to McGriff Insurance 
Services, Inc., the Pool Administrator. If the District wishes to retain an original copy, please have 
duplicate originals signed at the same time. 

 

PLEASE NOTE IT IS IMPORTANT THAT CURRENT REPRESENTATIVE AND/OR 
ALTERNATE INFORMATION BE MAINTAINED WITH THE POOL ADMINISTRATOR. 
WE REQUEST ANY CHANGES BE SUBMITTED IN WRITING AS SOON AS POSSIBLE. 

  



 

RESOLUTION NO. __ , SERIES 20___ 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of           
(hereafter referred to as “the District”) has authority under Article XIV, Section 18(2)(a) of the Colorado 
Constitution, and §§ 24-10-115.5, 29-13-102, 29-1-201, et seq., and 8-44-204 of the Colorado Revised 
Statutes, as amended, to participate in a self-insurance pool for property and liability and/or workers’ 
compensation coverages; 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has reviewed a contract to cooperate with other Colorado Special 
Districts by participating in a self-insurance pool for property and liability and/or workers’ compensation 
coverages entitled “Intergovernmental Agreement for the Colorado Special Districts Property and 
Liability Pool”, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated into this Resolution; 
and, 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors finds that participation in such a pool would be in the best interest of 
the District, its employees, and its taxpayers. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the District hereby: 

1. Approves the contract entitled Intergovernmental Agreement for the Colorado Special Districts 
Property and Liability Pool, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated into 
this Resolution by this reference. 

2. Authorizes and directs the Chair of the Board of Directors to execute Exhibit A on behalf of the 
District. 

3. Directs the Secretary of the Board of Directors to transmit to the Colorado Special Districts 
Property and Liability Pool (hereafter referred to as “Pool”), McGriff Insurance Services, Inc., PO 
Box 1539, Portland, OR 97207-1539, an executed and attested copy of this Resolution and one 
original of Exhibit A. 

4. Designates         ____ as District’s initial 
Representative to the Pool and designates      as the District’s 
Alternative Representative. 

5. Provides the following contact information for the Representative and Alternate Representative: 

Representative Email Address:           

Representative Mailing Address:           

Representative Phone Number:           

 

Alternate Representative Email Address:          

Alternate Representative Mailing Address:         



 

Alternate Representative Phone Number:          

 

6. Understands that, with the adoption of this Resolution, the District becomes a member of the 
Pool, with coverage to be provided by or through the Pool on such date as determined by the 
District and Pool.  

 Director      moved the adoption of the above Resolution. 

 Director      seconded the adoption of the above Resolution. 

  

This Resolution was adopted by a majority vote of the Board of Directors of the District  

on the   day of     , 20  . 

 

      

    Chair of the Board 

 

 ATTEST: 

 

       

 Secretary of the Board 



 

 

 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT FOR THE 

 COLORADO SPECIAL DISTRICTS 

 PROPERTY AND LIABILITY POOL 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As Amended 

SEPTEMBER 16, 2020 



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 1 Definitions ...................................................................................................1 

 

ARTICLE 2 Creation of Pool  ..........................................................................................1 

 

ARTICLE 3 Purposes  ......................................................................................................2 

 

ARTICLE 4 Non-Waiver of Governmental or Other Immunity  .....................................2 

 

ARTICLE 5 Participation  ................................................................................................2 

 

ARTICLE 6 Board of Directors and Officers  ..................................................................3 

 

ARTICLE 7 Meetings of the Board of Directors  ............................................................4 

 

ARTICLE 8 Powers and Duties of the Board of Directors  .............................................4 

 

ARTICLE 9 Members' Powers and Meetings  .................................................................6 

 

ARTICLE    10 Obligations of Members  .............................................................................7 

 

ARTICLE    11 Contributions ...............................................................................................8 

 

ARTICLE    12 Liability of Directors, Officers and Employees  ........................................10 

 

ARTICLE    13 Withdrawal of Members  ...........................................................................11 

 

ARTICLE    14 Expulsion of Members  ..............................................................................11 

 

ARTICLE    15 Effect of Withdrawal or Expulsion  ...........................................................12 

 

ARTICLE    16 Miscellaneous  ...........................................................................................13 

 

 



 

 

 
1 

 INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT FOR THE 

 COLORADO SPECIAL DISTRICTS PROPERTY AND LIABILITY POOL 

 

 

ARTICLE 1.  Definitions 

 

As used in this Pool Agreement, the following terms shall have the meaning hereinafter set out: 

 

1.1 BOARD:  Board of Directors of the Pool. 

 

1.2 CLAIM YEAR:  Any twelve consecutive month period established by the Board.  The 

"initial" claim year is the first claim year established for the Pool. 

 

1.3 DIRECTOR:  A person serving on the Board. 

 

1.4 MEMBER:  A Special District which enters into this Pool Agreement.  An "initial" member 

of the Pool is a member which obtains coverage through the Pool during the initial claim 

year. 

 

1.5 MEMBER REPRESENTATIVE:  That person who is an elected official, employee, or 

other person designated in writing by a Member as its representative or alternate to the 

Pool. 

 

1.6 POOL:  The Colorado Special Districts Property and Liability Pool established pursuant to 

the Constitution and the statutes of this state by this Pool Agreement. 

 

1.7 POOL AGREEMENT:  This Intergovernmental Agreement for the Colorado Special 

Districts Property and Liability Pool. 

 

 1.8 PUBLIC ENTITY:  A public entity pursuant to Section 24-10-103(5), C.R.S., as amended, 

and that is formed by this Pool Agreement by Member Special Districts as a separate and 

independent governmental and legal entity pursuant to the provisions of Article XIV, 

Section 18(2) of the Colorado Constitution and Sections 29-1-201 et. seq., 8-44-101(1)(C) 

and (3), 8-44-204, 24-10-115.5, and 29-13-102, C.R.S., as amended. 

 

 1.9  SPECIAL DISTRICT:  A political subdivision of the State of Colorado that is a unit of 

local government pursuant to Article 13, Title 29, C.R.S., as amended, that is a public entity 

pursuant to Section 24-10-103(5), C.R.S., as amended, and that is eligible for membership 

in the Special District Association of Colorado according to the Association’s bylaws as 

amended and in effect from time to time.  “Special District” also includes any separate 

entity created by intergovernmental agreement authorized by Part 2, Article 1, Title 29, 

C.R.S., as amended, if at least one of the contracting entities is a special district and if all 

of the contracting entities are units of a local government pursuant to Article 13, Title 29, 

C.R.S., as amended, and are public entities pursuant to Section 24-10-103(5), C.R.S., as 



 

 

 
2 

amended. 

 

1.10 SDA BOARD:  The Board of Directors of the Special District Association of Colorado. 

 

ARTICLE 2.  Creation of Pool 

 

2.1 The Colorado Special Districts Property and Liability Pool is hereby formed by this Pool 

Agreement by Member Special Districts as a separate and independent governmental and 

legal entity pursuant to the provisions of Article XIV, Section 18(2) of the Colorado 

Constitution and Sections 29-1-201 et. seq., 8-44-101(1)(C) and (3), 8-44-204, 24-10-

115.5, and 29-13-102, C.R.S., as amended. 

 

2.2 Each Special District entering into this Pool Agreement has the power under Colorado law 

to make provision for the property and liability coverages, workers’ compensation benefits, 

and risk management, claims handling, and other functions and services which constitute 

the specific functions and services jointly provided by means of the Pool. 

 

ARTICLE 3.  Purposes 

 

3.1 The purposes of the Pool are to provide defined property, liability, workers’ compensation 

and associated coverages, and claims and risk management services related thereto, for 

Member Special Districts through a self-insurance pool. 

 

3.2 It is the intent of the Members to use Member contributions to defend and indemnify, in 

accordance with this Pool Agreement, any Member against stated liability or loss to the 

extent of the coverage provided by or through the Pool. 

 

3.3 All income and assets of the Pool shall be at all times dedicated to the exclusive benefit of 

its Members. 

 

ARTICLE 4.  Non-Waiver of Governmental or Other Immunity 

 

4.1 All Pool money, plus earned interest, is money derived from its Members which consist 

solely of Special Districts and a Public Entity within the State of Colorado.  It is the intent 

of the Members and the Public Entity that, by entering into this Pool Agreement, they do 

not waive and are not waiving any immunity provided by any law to the Public Entity, 

Members or their public employees, as defined in Section 24-10-103(4), C.R.S., as 

amended. 

 

ARTICLE 5.  Participation 

 

5.1 The Board shall have the authority to limit the Members of the Pool to those Colorado 

Special Districts which are members of the Special District Association of Colorado and 

which properly enter into and adopt this Pool Agreement. 



 

 

 
3 

 

5.2 New Members, including special districts which have previously withdrawn or been 

expelled from the Pool, shall be admitted only upon approval by the Board, subject to the 

payment of such sums and under such conditions as the Board in each case or from time-

to-time establishes. 

  

5.3 A Member may participate in the Pool for either or both of the following purposes: 

 

1. The property and liability coverages authorized by Sections 24-10-115.5 and 29-

13-102, C.R.S., as amended, and risk management, claims handling and other 

functions and services related to such coverages; 

 

2. The workers’ compensation coverages authorized by Sections 8-44-101(1)(C) and 

(3) and 8-44-204, C.R.S., as amended, and risk management, claims handling, and 

other functions and services related to such coverages. 

 

5.4 A Member who is participating in the Pool for one of the purposes set forth in Paragraph 

5.3 may be authorized to participate in the Pool for the other of those purposes upon further 

compliance, as necessary, with Paragraph 5.1 and approval of the Board, subject to the 

payment of such sums and under such conditions as the Board in each case or from time-

to-time establishes. 

 

5.5 Upon a vote of the Directors, the Board shall have the authority to approve a Public Entity 

to participate in the Pool for one of the purposes set forth in Paragraph 5.3.  If a Public 

Entity is allowed to participate in the Pool, the Board must adopt rules, pursuant to 

Subparagraph 14 of Paragraph 8.2, to ensure that participation by the Public Entity will not 

interfere or conflict with the Board’s obligations to its Members or impair the financial 

condition of the Pool.  The Board shall also have the authority, upon a vote of the Directors, 

to remove the Public Entity from participation in the Pool.  A Public Entity approved by 

the Board to participate in the Pool is not a Member, does not have powers of a Member 

under Article 9, and may not request binding arbitration under Paragraph 16.11.    

 

ARTICLE 6.  Board of Directors and Officers 

 

6.1 The Pool Board of Directors shall be composed of nine persons to be appointed by the SDA 

Board.  Directors shall be appointed from among the Member Representatives, each from 

a different Member.  At least one (1) Pool Director shall be appointed by the SDA Board 

from among the SDA directors.  Pool Directors who are not SDA directors shall be 

appointed by the SDA Board from nominations received from Members.  In no event may 

more than three Pool Directors be appointed from any one of the following types of special 

districts:  Ambulance, Fire, Metropolitan, Park and Recreation, Sanitation, Water, Water 

and Sanitation, Hospital, or Library Districts.  Nominations from the Members shall be 

submitted to the SDA Board at such time as the SDA Board may provide, and any 

nomination must be approved by the Board of Directors of the Member submitting the 



 

 

 
4 

nomination. 

 

6.2 The Executive Director of the SDA shall serve as an ex-officio, non-voting Director on the 

Board.  Additionally, an employee of the SDA, as designated by the Executive Director of 

the SDA, shall serve as a non-voting Director on the Board in the role of Pool Liaison, to 

act as an intermediary between the Pool Board and its vendors for the purpose of 

coordinating services. 

 

6.3 Terms of the Directors shall be two-year, overlapping terms or until their successors have 

been appointed, except as provided herein.  The term of office shall begin on a January 1, 

and end at midnight on a December 31, except that the Directors appointed to the first 

Board following the formation of the Pool shall begin their term prior to a January 1 if the 

SDA Board so directs.  Directors may serve successive terms.  The SDA Board shall 

appoint to the first Board following formation of the Pool, three Directors to serve one-

year terms and four Directors to serve two year terms, with the successors of each appointed 

for two-year terms.  Of the two additional persons to be appointed to the Board upon 

expansion of the Board from seven to nine persons, one shall be appointed to serve a one-

year term and one shall be appointed to serve a two-year term, with the successors of each 

appointed for two-year terms; the terms of office of the two additional persons initially 

appointed may begin prior to a January 1 if the SDA Board so directs.  

 

6.4 The officers of the Pool shall be:  president, one or more vice presidents, secretary, one or 

more assistant secretaries, and comptroller.  The officers shall be elected annually by and 

from among the Directors at the first meeting of the Board following each December 31. 

 

6.5 A vacancy shall occur on the Board when a Director: 

 

1. Submits a written resignation to the Board; 

 

2. Dies; 

 

3. Ceases to be a Member Representative;  

 

4. Fails to attend three consecutive regular meetings of the Board without the Board 

having entered upon its minutes an approval for an additional absence or absences, 

except that such additional absence or absences shall be excused for temporary 

mental or physical disability or illness; or 

 

5. Is convicted of a felony. 

 

6.6 A change in which Member has designated a Director as its Member Representative, 

including alternates, does not cause a vacancy on the Board unless the change causes there 

to be more than three Directors appointed from the types of special districts listed in 

Paragraph 6.1. 



 

 

 
5 

 

6.7 Any vacancy on the Board shall be filled by appointment by the SDA Board for the 

unexpired portion of the term. 

 

ARTICLE 7.  Meetings of the Board of Directors 

 

7.1 The Board may set a time and place for regular meetings which may be held without further 

notice.  The Members shall be notified of the time and place set for regular meetings. 

 

7.2 Special meetings may be called by the President or by a majority of the Directors by 

mailing written notice at least ten (10) days in advance to all Directors or by unanimously 

executed waiver of notice. 

 

7.3 Five Directors shall constitute a quorum to do business.  All acts of the Board shall require 

approval of a majority of the Directors present, except as otherwise specifically provided 

in this Pool Agreement. 

 

7.4 One or more or all Directors may participate in any meeting of the Board by means of a 

conference telephone or similar communications equipment by which all persons 

participating in the meeting can hear each other at the same time.  Participation by such 

means shall constitute presence at the meeting. 

 

7.5 Any action of the Board may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing setting 

forth the action so taken is signed by all Directors appointed to the Board.  Such consent 

shall have the same effect as a unanimous vote.  The consent may be executed in 

counterparts. 

 

ARTICLE 8.  Powers and Duties of the Board of Directors 

 

8.1 The business and affairs of the Pool shall be managed by the Board which shall exercise 

all the authority and powers and discharge all the duties of the Pool, except as is otherwise 

provided in this Pool Agreement. 

 

8.2 In addition to all other powers of the Board set out in this Pool Agreement, the Board shall 

have the power to: 

 

1. Exercise all powers necessary to carry out the purposes of the Pool. 

 

2. Retain agents, independent contractors and employees necessary to administer and 

achieve the purposes of the Pool, including, but not limited to, attorneys, 

accountants, investigators, experts, consultants, and others. 

 

3. Purchase, sell, encumber, and lease real property, and purchase, sell, encumber or 

lease equipment, machinery, and personal property. 



 

 

 
6 

 

4. Invest money as allowed for the Pool by Colorado statutes or by lawful regulations 

adopted pursuant to Colorado statutes, as from time-to-time amended. 

 

5. Purchase excess insurance, stop-loss insurance, and reinsurance as the Board deems 

prudent. 

 

6. Adopt and adjust the coverages provided through the Pool. 

 

7. Adopt and adjust contributions to the Pool. 

 

8. Enter into contracts including, but not limited to, contracts for risk management, 

claim adjustment, and brokerage services. 

 

9. Reimburse Directors for reasonable and approved expenses, including expenses 

incurred in attending Board meetings, and pay compensation to each Director for 

his or her services in a sum not to exceed the maximum sum which may by statute 

be paid as compensation for services of directors on Colorado special district boards 

of directors. 

 

10. Purchase fidelity bonds from an insurance company approved by the Insurance 

Commissioner of the State of Colorado to do business in Colorado. 

 

11. Establish reasonable and necessary loss reduction, prevention and risk management 

policies and procedures to be followed by the Members. 

 

12. Appoint committees from time to time as the Board considers desirable. 

 

13. Provide for claims and loss control procedures, and establish conditions to be met 

prior to the payment or defense of claims. 

 

14. Establish rules governing its own conduct and procedure, and the authority of its 

officers, not inconsistent with this Pool Agreement. 

 

15. Approve attorneys or firms of attorneys to represent Members in claims covered 

through the Pool. 

 

16. Delegate in writing fiduciary responsibilities or ministerial powers and duties to 

individual Directors or committees of the Board or to such agents, employees, and 

independent contractors as the Board considers desirable. 

 

8.3 In addition to all other duties of the Board set out in this Pool Agreement, the Board shall 

have the duty to: 

 



 

 

 
7 

1. Have an audit of the financial affairs of the Pool be made annually by a certified 

public accountant in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, and provide 

a copy thereof to each Member. 

 

2. Select a qualified actuary to conduct periodic reviews of the Pool’s funds and any 

reviews required by the Insurance Commissioner of Colorado, and make 

recommendations to the Board based on such reviews. 

 

3. Designate one or more persons or entities to administer the Pool. 

 

4. Adopt a budget annually and report the budget to the Members. 

 

5. Three persons shall be appointed annually to an expulsion committee to serve until 

January 1 of the year following the appointment.  One person, to be appointed by 

the Board, shall be a director on the board, one person, to be appointed by the Board, 

shall be a representative of the person(s) or entity(ies) providing general 

administrative services to the Pool, and one person, to be appointed by the SDA 

Board, shall be a member of the SDA Board. 

 

ARTICLE 9.  Members' Powers and Meetings 

 

9.1 The Members shall have the power to: 

 

a. Amend the Pool Agreement by a two thirds (2/3) vote of the Members present at a 

meeting.  Written notice of any proposed amendment shall be provided to each 

Member at least forty-five (45) days in advance of any vote on the amendment.   

 

b. Dissolve the Pool and disburse its assets by a two thirds (2/3) vote of the Members 

present at a meeting, pursuant to such notice and in keeping with such procedure as 

shall be established by the Board, and upon which question proxy voting shall not 

be allowed.  Notice of the dissolution and plan for disbursement of assets and 

payment of the remaining obligations of the Pool shall be mailed to the Insurance 

Commissioner of Colorado at least ninety (90) days prior to the effective date of 

the dissolution.  The plan for disbursement of assets and payment of the remaining 

obligations of the Pool shall not take effect until approved by the Insurance 

Commissioner of Colorado.  Upon dissolution of the Pool, the assets of the Pool 

not used or needed for the purposes of the Pool, as determined by the Board and 

subject to approval by the Insurance Commissioner of Colorado, shall be 

distributed exclusively to Special Districts which are members of the Pool prior to 

dissolution to be used for one or more public purposes. 

 

9.2 Meetings of the Members shall be held as follows: 

 

a. Members shall meet at least once annually at a time and place to be set by the Board, 



 

 

 
8 

with notice mailed to each Member at least thirty (30) days in advance. 

 

b. Special meetings may be called by the Board upon its own motion and shall be 

called by the Board upon written request of thirty (30) percent of the Members, 

with notice mailed to each Member at least thirty (30) days in advance. 

 

c. The president of the Pool shall preside at the meetings; a vice president of the Pool 

shall preside in the absence of the president. 

 

d. Twenty (20) percent of the Members shall constitute a quorum to do business. 

 

e. Except for action to dissolve the Pool, proxy voting shall be allowed, pursuant to 

such procedures as the Board may determine. 

 

f. Each Member shall be entitled to one vote on each issue, to be cast by its Member 

Representative.  No Director may cast a vote for a Member under Article 9. 

 

g. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Pool Agreement, any amendment to the 

Pool Agreement, except an amendment relating to dissolution of the Pool, may be 

adopted without a meeting if an approval in writing, setting forth the amendment 

approved, is signed by the Member Representatives of at least two thirds (2/3) of 

the Members.  The approval may be executed in counterparts. 

 

ARTICLE 10.  Obligations of Members 

 

10.1 Each Member and any Public Entity participating in the Pool shall have the obligation to: 

 

a. Pay all contributions or other payments to the Pool at such times and in such 

amounts as shall be established by the Board.  Any delinquent payments shall be 

paid with interest pursuant to a policy established by the Board and uniformly 

applied. 

 

b. Designate in writing, a Member Representative and one or more alternates for the 

Members' meetings.  The Representative and any alternate shall be an elected 

official, employee, or other designee of the Member, and may be changed from 

time-to-time.  Any alternate may exercise all the powers of the Representative 

during a Member meeting in the absence of the Member Representative.  No Public 

Entity Member may have a Member Representative or any alternates.   

 

c. Allow the Pool and its agents, contractors, employees and officers reasonable 

access to all facilities and records of the Member as required for the administration 

of the Pool. 

 

d. Cooperate fully with the Pool and all agents, contractors, employees and officers 



 

 

 
9 

thereof in matters relating to the Pool. 

 

e. Provide information requested by the Pool, and all agents, contractors, employees, 

and officers thereof, as reasonably required for the administration of the Pool. 

 

f. Allow the Pool to make decisions regarding, and to designate attorneys to represent 

the Member in, the investigation, settlement and litigation of any claim within the 

scope of coverage furnished through the Pool. 

 

g. Comply with the claims, loss reduction, prevention and risk management policies 

and procedures established by the Board. 

 

h. Promptly report to the Pool all incidents or occurrences which could reasonably be 

expected to result in the Pool being required to consider a claim, in any form 

required by the Board and in compliance with any applicable excess insurance or 

reinsurance. 

 

i. Promptly report to the Pool the addition of new programs and facilities or the 

significant reduction or expansion of existing programs and facilities or other acts, 

as directed by the Board and in compliance with any applicable excess insurance 

or reinsurance. 

 

ARTICLE 11.  Contributions 

 

11.1 The Board shall establish Member and Public Entity contributions pursuant to guidelines 

established by the Board from time-to-time.  The contributions may include an annual 

contribution and any additional contributions at such times and in such amounts as the 

Board deems necessary to insure the solvency and avoid impairment of the Pool or which 

the Board otherwise deems beneficial to protect the financial condition of the Pool.  The 

Board may provide for disbursement of non-surplus credit balances which are, pursuant to 

guidelines adopted by the Board from time to time, due a Member, and such disbursements 

shall not be subject to the provisions of Paragraphs 11.2 or 15.1.  

 

11.2 Any excess funds which the Board determines are not needed for the purposes of the Pool, 

may be distributed among the Members and former Members, subject to Paragraph 15.1, 

pursuant to the following: 

 

1. Any such distribution may be in the form of credits against future contributions or 

in the form of payments, or a combination thereof, as the Board may determine. 

 

2. Money distributed for any claim year shall be distributed only to those Members 

and former Members which were Members during that claim year and shall be 

distributed in order of claim year contribution, with Members and former Members 

of the initial claim year to receive the initial credits. 



 

 

 
10 

 

3. The amount which may be distributed for any claim year shall be established by the 

Board which shall have discretion as to the amount and timing of any distribution.  

That amount may not exceed the net sum of (i) the net income of the Pool for that 

claim year less (ii) the portion of the Pool’s net income which equals the amount of 

the excess loss reserve of the claim year prior to the claim year (which is subject to 

the distribution) which was taken into income in that claim year plus (iii) the excess 

loss reserve for the claim year which is subject to the distribution. 

 

4. For the purpose of this Paragraph 11.2, the term “excess loss reserves” means the 

amount by which the amounts credited to loss reserves and charged to operating 

expenses in any claim year exceed the actual losses (including loss adjustment 

expenses) for that claim year. 

 

5. The amount established by the Board for a claim year pursuant to Subparagraph 3 

of this Paragraph 11.2 , shall be distributed among each Member and former 

Member which was a Member during that claim year based on the ratio which each 

Member’s and former Member’s contribution (excluding any surplus contribution) 

for the claim year bears to the total contributions (excluding surplus contributions) 

for the claim year and less the contributions of former Members which are not 

eligible for a distribution pursuant to Paragraph 15.1. 

 

6. Excess surplus funds contributed by Members and former Members may be 

distributed only among such contributing Members or former Members, subject to 

the five year membership requirement of Paragraph 15.1.  The Board has discretion 

to determine, from time to time, the amount and timing of any distribution of such 

funds.  The amount established by the Board shall be distributed among each 

Member and eligible former Member based on the ratio which each Member’s and 

former Member’s surplus contribution bears to the total amount of surplus funds 

contributed to the Pool by Members and former Members. 

 

7. No distribution of excess funds, including excess surplus funds contributed by 

Members, shall be made to any Member or former Member which owes any amount 

to the Pool until the amount so owed is paid, and any amount so owed may be 

deducted from the distribution to the Member or former Member. 

 

8. No distribution of excess funds, including excess surplus funds contributed by 

Members, shall cause the Pool to become impaired or insolvent. 

 

11.3 The total amount of surplus shall be determined by the Board from time-to-time, but in no 

event shall be less than that required by the Insurance Commissioner of Colorado, and the 

Board may require all Members to make additional contributions to surplus as the Board 

deem necessary, or the Insurance Commissioner of Colorado may require. 

 



 

 

 
11 

11.4 The Pool shall account separately for contributions made for the property and liability 

coverages authorized by Sections 24-10-115.5 and 29-13-102, C.R.S., as amended, and for 

contributions made for the workers’ compensation coverage authorized by Sections 8-44-

101(1)(C) and (3) and 8-44-204, C.R.S., as amended. 

 

11.5 Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, the Pool Board may 

establish from any contributions or other assets of the Pool the initial minimum surplus for 

workers’ compensation coverage required by the Insurance Commissioner of Colorado; 

provided that contributions or other assets derived from coverages other than workers’ 

compensation shall not be used to establish such minimum surplus unless and until the 

Board first determines that workers’ compensation contributions are or will be insufficient 

to fund such surplus in the amounts and within the time required by the Insurance 

Commissioner of Colorado; and provided further, that such minimum surplus shall be 

established from contributions for workers’ compensation coverage as soon as the Board 

determines practicable consistent with ensuring the solvency and avoiding the impairment 

of the Pool. The Board may issue subordinated debt to establish such minimum surplus 

consistent with applicable requirements of the Insurance Commissioner of Colorado. 

 

11.6 The Pool shall repay the Special District Association of Colorado for its ongoing services 

to the Pool, provided subsequent to the creation of the Pool, within such time and in such 

amount as the SDA Board and Pool Board may agree. 

 

ARTICLE 12.  Liability of Directors, Officers and Employees 

 

12.1 No Director, officer, committee member, Pool Liaison, or employee of the Pool shall be 

personally liable for any acts performed or omitted in good faith.  The Pool shall indemnify 

each Director, officer, committee member, Pool Liaison, and employee of the Pool against 

any and all expense including attorney fees and liability expenses sustained by them, or 

any of them in connection with any suit or suits which may be brought against them 

involving or pertaining to any of their acts or duties performed for this Pool or omitted in 

good faith.  This provision shall not be deemed to prevent compromises of any such 

litigation where the compromise is deemed advisable in order to prevent greater expense 

or cost in the defense or prosecution of such litigation. 

 

12.2 The Pool shall obtain a fidelity bond or other bond to guarantee the faithful performance 

of each Director’s, officer’s Pool Liaison’s, and employee’s duties hereunder, and shall 

make reasonable effort to obtain errors and omissions coverage for each Director, officer, 

committee member, Pool Liaison, and employee of the Pool.  The Pool shall obtain bonds 

for all Directors, officers, committee members, Pool Liaison, and employees who handle 

or have access to Pool funds, in an amount which the Board deems appropriate but no less 

than the minimum amount deemed necessary by the Insurance Commissioner of Colorado. 

 

  



 

 

 
12 

ARTICLE 13.  Withdrawal of Members 

 

13.1 Any Member may withdraw from the Pool by giving written notice to the Board of its 

intent to withdraw at least sixty (60) days prior to the Member’s coverage renewal date.  A 

Member which has different renewal dates for different coverages must give such written 

notice at least sixty (60) days prior to the first renewal date following any January 1.  Unless 

a different date is agreed to by the Board and the Member, the withdrawal shall be effective 

on the Member’s coverage renewal date but, if the Member has different renewal dates for 

different coverages, the withdrawal shall be effective the latest renewal date following the 

written notice of withdrawal.  After the notice of withdrawal is given, no coverage will be 

renewed but all coverages will remain in effect only until their respective expiration dates. 

 

13.2 Except as otherwise provided in this Paragraph, any Member which dissolves or which is 

consolidated with another Special District shall be considered a withdrawn Member with 

the same rights and obligations under this agreement as any other withdrawn Member, such 

withdrawal to be effective on the date of dissolution or consolidation, as the case may be.  

Notwithstanding Paragraph 15.1 and under the following circumstances only, a Special 

District shall receive the credits against its future contributions to the Pool otherwise 

allocable to a dissolved or consolidated Member pursuant to Paragraph 11.2: 

 

1. If the Special District was formed by a consolidation which included such a 

Member, the Special District assumed all rights of that Member under this 

agreement, and the Special District is a Member no later than one year after the 

effective date of the consolidation; or, 

 

2. If the Special District assumed all rights of a dissolved Member under this 

agreement, and the Special District is a Member no later than one year after the 

effective date of the dissolution. 

 

A Special District entitled to receive such credits of a dissolved or consolidated Member 

shall not be obligated for any liabilities to the Pool of the dissolved or consolidated Member 

in excess of the amount of such credits.  

 

ARTICLE 14.  Expulsion of Members 

 

14.1 A Member which fails to make a contribution or other payment due to the Pool shall be 

automatically expelled from the Pool on the sixtieth (60) day following the due date, unless 

time for payment is extended by the Board and payment is made within any extended 

period.  A notice of failure to make a contribution or other payment due to the Pool shall 

be mailed to the Member at least thirty (30) days prior to the date of automatic expulsion.  

If payment is not made within any extended period, the automatic expulsion shall occur on 

a date, no later than twenty (20) days after the last day of the extended period, set by the 

Board.  An expulsion under this Paragraph 14.1 shall not be subject to the provisions of 

Paragraph 14.2. 



 

 

 
13 

 

14.2 A Member may be expelled by the Board for failure to carry out any other obligation of 

the Member, or for failure to maintain its membership in the Special District Association 

of Colorado if such membership was required by the Board at the time the Member was 

admitted to the Pool, subject to the following: 

 

1. The Member shall receive notice from the Board of the alleged failure and not less 

than thirty (30) days in which to cure the alleged failure, along with notice that 

expulsion may result if the failure is not so cured. 

 

2. The Member shall receive at least thirty (30) days prior notice from the Board, of 

the date, place and time when the Board will consider expelling the Member from 

the Pool, and the Member shall be entitled to be present at that meeting and to 

present evidence and reasons why it should not be expelled.  The decision of the 

Board shall be effective as of the date and upon the terms and conditions set forth 

in the Pool Agreement and applicable excess or reinsurance policies and otherwise 

specified by the Board, except as provided in Subparagraph 3 of this Paragraph 

14.2. 

 

3. The Member may appeal the Board’s decision to the expulsion committee, which 

shall schedule a hearing thereon.  The Member and the Board shall be provided at 

least ten (10) days prior written notice of the date, time and place of the hearing.  

The appealing Member shall be entitled to be present at that hearing and to present 

evidence and reasons why it should not be expelled and the Board may present 

evidence and reasons why expulsion is proper.  The decision of the expulsion 

committee shall be final and any expulsion effective as of the date and upon the 

terms and conditions set forth in the Pool Agreement and applicable excess or 

reinsurance policies, and otherwise specified by the Board. 

 

ARTICLE 15.  Effect of Withdrawal or Expulsion 

 

15.1 No withdrawn or expelled Member shall be entitled to any reimbursement of contributions 

or distribution or excess funds, including excess surplus funds contributed by Members, 

unless the Member was a Member for at least five consecutive years. 

 

15.2 A withdrawn or expelled Member shall remain obligated for all amounts owing at the time 

of withdrawal or expulsion for the years during which the member was an active member 

of the Pool and for all amounts which thereafter become owing for such years pursuant to 

the Pool Agreement and any other Pool documents which are in effect at the time of 

withdrawal. 

 

15.3 A withdrawn or expelled Member shall be considered a Member of the Pool for the purpose 

of payment of the Member’s claims and expenses related thereto which remain covered 

under the terms of coverage existing at the time of withdrawal.  A withdrawn or expelled 



 

 

 
14 

Member shall remain subject to all conditions of coverage and obligations of a Member 

which are in effect at the time of withdrawal.  A withdrawn or expelled Member shall have 

no right to vote on any matter pending before the Pool membership. 

 

15.4 No withdrawn or expelled Member may be adversely affected by any change in the Pool 

Agreement or other Pool documents adopted subsequent to the effective date of the 

Member’s withdrawal or expulsion. 

 

15.5 Unless disapproved by an affected excess carrier or reinsurer, the Pool shall offer a 

withdrawing or expelled Member, no later than forty-five (45) days after the expulsion or 

Board’s receipt of the written notice of withdrawal, at least twenty-four (24) months 

extended reporting period on any claims-made coverage provided through the Pool, at a 

cost reasonably calculated by the Board and subject to any contracts existing at the time of 

withdrawal or expulsion. 

 

ARTICLE 16.  Miscellaneous 

 

16.1 This document constitutes an intergovernmental agreement among those Special Districts 

which become Members of the Pool.  The terms of this agreement may be enforced in court 

by the Pool or by any of its Members.  The consideration for the duties herewith imposed 

on the Members to take certain actions and to refrain from certain other actions shall be 

based upon the mutual promises and agreements of the Members set forth herein. 

 

16.2 A certified or attested copy of the resolution of approval for each Member shall be attached 

to the Member’s Pool Agreement on file with the Pool. 

 

16.3 Except to the extent of the limited financial contributions to the Pool agreed to herein or 

such additional obligations as may come about through amendments to this Pool 

Agreement, the contracting parties intend in the creation of the Pool to establish an 

organization to operate only within the scope herein set out and have not otherwise created 

as between Member and Member any relationship of surety, indemnification or 

responsibility for the debts of or claims against any other Member. 

 

16.4 The provisions of this Pool Agreement and of the other documents referred to herein, and 

the assets of the Pool, are for the benefit of the Members of the Pool only, and no other 

persons or entitles shall have any rights or interest in this Pool Agreement or in any of the 

other documents referred to herein, or in any such assets, as a third party beneficiary or 

otherwise.  The assets of the Pool shall not be subject to attachment, garnishment, or any 

equitable proceeding. 

 

16.5 It is the intention of the Members that the Pool and any income of the Pool not be subject 

to taxation, and the Members shall cooperate in such respects, including amending this 

Pool Agreement, as reasonably necessary to establish and maintain the non-taxable status 

of the Pool. 



 

 

 
15 

 

16.6 The Insurance Commissioner of Colorado shall have such authority with respect to the 

formation and operation of the Pool as is provided by applicable Colorado law. 

 

16.7 Except as permitted in this Pool Agreement, and amendments hereto, neither the Board nor 

any other person or entity is authorized to incur liabilities or obligations or enter into 

contracts on behalf of the Members. 

 

16.8 "Insolvency" as applied to the Pool shall have the meaning as defined in Section 10-3-212, 

C.R.S., as amended, or as the Insurance Commissioner of Colorado may otherwise provide. 

 

16.9 The statutory reporting period for the Pool shall be the calendar year or such other period 

as the Insurance Commissioner of Colorado may provide. 

 

16.10 If any provision of this Pool Agreement is held invalid or unenforceable by a court of 

competent jurisdiction, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the other 

provisions, and this Pool Agreement is expressly declared to be severable. 

 

16.11 If the Board or its authorized representative and a Member disagree on whether a loss is 

covered through the Pool or on the amount of a covered loss, the Board or its authorized 

representative or the Member may request that the disagreement be submitted to binding 

arbitration as follows: 

 

1. Unless otherwise agreed by the Board or its authorized representative and the 

Member, three persons shall be selected for the arbitration panel, one by the Board 

or its authorized representative, one by the Member, and one by the two so selected 

to act as umpire to decide the items upon which the other two disagree.  If the two 

so selected fail for fifteen days to agree upon the umpire, the umpire shall be 

selected by a judge of a court of record agreed to by the Board or its authorized 

representative and the Member. 

 

2. The decision of the panel shall be binding on the Board or its authorized 

representative and the Member. 

 

3. The Pool shall pay the fees and expenses of the panelist selected by the Board or 

its authorized representative, the Member shall pay the fees and expenses of the 

panelist selected by it, and the fees and expenses of the umpire shall be shared 

equally by the Pool and the Member. 

 

 

  



 

 

 

16 

Dated: ______________________________________________ 

 

 

By: _________________________________________________ 

      Title: Chairman, Board of Directors and President 

 

 

Special District [name]:_________________________________ 

 

 

By: ________________________________________________ 

 Title: Chairman, Board of Directors and President 

 

Date: ______________________________________________ 

 

 

Attest: 

 

By:_______________________________________________ 

 Title: District Secretary 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 


	MVMD 3.3.2022 Agenda 
	MVMD 2021 11 04 Meeting Minutes
	MVMD 022122 Payables
	Managers Report for 3.2022.RH
	PDF - Mtn. Vista Metro Enhancement Proposals - 9-7-2020
	Mountain Vista MD Engagement Letter-unsigned
	IGA Insurance CSD Pool agreement
	MVMD 013122 Financials
	bs
	bva
	exp
	inc




